**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**No. 22-0576**

---

**CHARLENE JORGENSEN and MICHAEL JORGENSEN  
Plaintiffs-Appellees**

**vs.**

**ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., P.C. and TRI-STATE  
SPECIALISTS, LLP  
Defendants-Appellants.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY DISTRICT COURT CASE  
NO. LACV192198**

**THE HONORABLE JEFFREY L. POULSON  
PRESIDING JUDGE**

---

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

**JEFF W. WRIGHT, AT0008716  
ZACK A. MARTIN, AT0014476  
1128 Historic 4<sup>th</sup> Street  
P.O. Box 3086  
Sioux City, Iowa 51102  
Phone: (712) 255-8838  
Fax: (712) 258-6714  
[Jeff.Wright@heidmanlaw.com](mailto:Jeff.Wright@heidmanlaw.com)

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. Whether the District Court erred in determining that Iowa Code section 147.140 does not apply to the Jorgensens' negligent hiring, retention, and supervision claim against Tri-State Specialists, LLP.

Iowa Code § 147.140

*Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.-Iowa Corp.*, 973 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2022)

*Wolfe v. Shenandoah Med. Ctr.*, 2022 WL 2160449 (Iowa Ct. App. 2022)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case presents the application of existing legal principles, specifically with respect to the applicability of the certificate of merit affidavit requirements, pursuant to Iowa Code section 147.140, to negligent hiring, retention, and supervision of professional staff claims against health care professionals.<sup>1</sup> *See, e.g., Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.-Iowa Corp.*, 973 N.W.2d 533, 544 (Iowa 2022); *Wolfe v. Shenandoah Med. Ctr.*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2022) (final publication decision pending). Therefore, the Supreme Court should appropriately transfer it to the Court of Appeals. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In the 2017 legislative session, the Iowa Legislature made various amendments and additions to the statutes governing medical malpractice claims in Iowa Code Chapter 147. Among the changes was the enactment of Iowa Code section 147.140, which “provides that the plaintiff in a medical malpractice action requiring expert testimony must file a certificate of merit signed by a qualified expert within sixty days of the defendant’s answer.” *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 538 (citing Iowa Code § 147.140(1)). A certificate of merit is required if a plaintiff asserts “a cause

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiffs’ specific allegations suggest that Tri-State should have terminated Dr. Smith upon being made aware of complaints and concerns during his tenure of employment. Accordingly, Defendants will hereinafter refer to this claim solely as “negligent retention,” for sake of simplicity.



of action for which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case.” Iowa Code § 147.140(1)(a).

The “legislative goal” of the statute is “to enable healthcare providers to quickly dismiss professional negligence claims that are not supported by the requisite expert testimony.” *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 541. Iowa Code section 147.140 “applies to causes of action that accrue on or after July 1, 2017.” Iowa Code § 147.140. The failure to substantially comply with its requirements “*shall* result, upon motion, in dismissal with prejudice of each cause of action as to which expert witness testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case.” Iowa Code § 147.140(6) (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs’ Petition, filed May 28, 2020, asserts medical negligence and failure to provide informed consent claims against Defendant, Adam B. Smith, M.D. (“Dr. Smith”). App. 10-13 at Counts I, II. These claims arose from a breast reconstruction performed by Dr. Smith on June 7, 2018. *See id.* Plaintiffs claim that Defendants, Adam Smith, M.D., P.C. (“Smith P.C.”); and Tri-State Specialists, LLP (“Tri-State”), are vicariously liable for these claims. *Id.* at App. 13-17 at Counts III, IV. Plaintiffs also allege that Tri-State was directly liable for negligently retaining Dr. Smith. *Id.* at App. 15-17 at Count IV. This appeal centers around Plaintiffs’ negligent retention claims.

On June 2, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a certificate of merit affidavit from Dr. Mark Jewell (“Dr. Jewell”). App. 20-21. Dr. Jewell alleged that Dr. Smith breached the standard of care with respect to the surgical procedure. *Id.* at App. 21 at ¶ 7. On September 28, 2021, Plaintiffs designated Dr. Michael Edwards (“Dr. Edwards”) as their sole expert witness. Just like Dr. Jewell, Dr. Edwards only provides opinions on the care by Dr. Smith. App. 715-718; App. 719-725. Neither the certificate of merit affidavit nor the reports of Dr. Edwards opine that Tri-State negligently retained Dr. Smith. *Id.*; App. 20-21.

On December 15, 2021, Defendants moved for partial summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ negligent retention claim. Defendants contended that expert testimony is required to prove a prima facie case of negligent retention of professional staff against a health care provider such as Tri-State. *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3. The requirement for expert testimony means a certificate of merit is needed for this claim. *See* Iowa Code § 147.140(1)(a). Pursuant to the statute, “[f]ailure to substantially comply” with the certificate of merit requirements “*shall result, upon motion, in dismissal with prejudice* of each cause of action as to which expert witness testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case.” Iowa Code § 147.140(6) (emphasis added); *see also Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544 (affirming dismissal of negligent retention claims related to professional staff employed by a health care provider for failure to comply with certificate of merit requirements).

On February 2, 2022, the Honorable Judge Jeffrey L. Poulson denied Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. App. 222. The district court cited this Court’s 2012 decision in *Hall v. Jennie Edmundson Mem’l Hosp.*, 812 N.W.2d 681 for the proposition that “the ordinary negligence standard applie[s] [] [to] credentialing decision[s].” *Id.* at App. 221; *but see Hall*, 812 N.W.2d at 686 (“[b]ecause we have concluded the district court’s judgment in favor of the defendants should be affirmed, *we find it unnecessary to address the defendants’ argument that the district court should have applied a higher ‘professional’ standard of care*”) (emphasis added); *Rieder v. Segal*, 959 N.W.2d 423, 431 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *Brookins v. Mote*, 292 P.3d 347, 364 (Mont. 2012) (“[t]he plaintiff in a negligent credentialing claim must present expert testimony establishing that the defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care to raise a genuine issue of material fact”) (emphasis added)). The district court then concluded, relying on *Hall*, that Tri-State retaining Dr. Smith was “within the ambit of nonmedical, administrative, or ministerial acts” such that expert testimony is not required. *Id.* at App. 222. Alternatively, the district court found that the common knowledge exception for breaches where the lack of care is so obvious as to be within the comprehension of lay persons applied. *Id.*

Plaintiffs’ lawsuit is one of several currently proceeding against these Defendants, alleging that Dr. Smith’s treatment fell below the standard of care and

that Tri-State was negligent for retaining Dr. Smith, at the time he provided the medical care at issue. Defendants filed substantially similar partial summary judgment motions in each of those other cases. The district court's Ruling in this case is contrary to the four other district court Rulings on these same facts. *Hummel v. Smith, et al.*, Woodbury County Case No. LACV191517 (District Court Ruling, Jan. 11, 2022); *Hilts v. Smith, et al.*, Woodbury County Case No. LACV191256 (District Court Ruling, Jan. 18, 2022); *Pratt v. Smith, et al.*, Woodbury County Case No. LACV18774 (District Court Ruling, Feb. 4, 2022)<sup>2</sup>; *Hanner, et al. v. Smith, et al.*, Woodbury County Case No. LACV191581 (District Court Ruling, Feb. 18, 2022). Those district courts found that expert testimony was required on negligent retention claims, requiring a certificate of merit and the dismissal with prejudice of those plaintiffs' negligent retention claims. *See* Iowa Code § 147.140.

Despite standing alone on these facts, and against the weight of appellate authority regarding the necessity of expert testimony for claims against health care providers, the district court also denied Defendants' Motion to Reconsider its February 2 Ruling on March 9, 2022. App. 256. Defendants filed an Application for Interlocutory Review on March 29, 2022. On June 22, 2022, this Court entered an Order granting Defendants' Application for Interlocutory Review and staying the district court proceedings below.

---

<sup>2</sup> This Court granted interlocutory appeal in *Pratt* on June 22, 2022.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dr. Smith was hired by Tri-State in 2014. App. 217. Dr. Matthew Steele (“Dr. Steele”) was subsequently hired by Tri-State in 2016. *Id.* at App. 218. Dr. Steele was eventually terminated from Tri-State, effective July 31, 2017. *See* Letter from Dr. Steele to Tri-State (July 31, 2017) at App. 711-712.

In March and April 2017, Dr. Steele had made allegations to Tri-State that Dr. Smith was engaged in “rampant malpractice and widespread insurance fraud”. *Id.* at App. 712. Dr. Steele reiterated and expounded upon these allegations in a July 31, 2017 letter. *See id.* at App. 712-714.

The only concrete allegation of medical negligence against Dr. Smith referenced in Dr. Steele’s letter resulted in a defense verdict for Dr. Smith. *Tarsila Ramirez, et al. v. Adam Smith, MD, et al.*, Woodbury County Case No. LACV180143 (Verdict Form, August 26, 2019). The allegations contained in the letter of Dr. Steele, a disgruntled former employee, was the totality of known allegations of misconduct against Dr. Smith which occurred prior to his treatment of Ms. Jorgensen.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Before the district court, Plaintiffs routinely relied upon information about Dr. Smith which came to light after Dr. Smith treated Ms. Jorgensen on June 7, 2018. *See e.g.*, App. 92-96 (addressing facts which came to light in 2019, 2020, and 2021). For reasons set forth in further detail below, these facts are irrelevant to Plaintiffs’ negligent supervision claim. *See Godar v. Edwards*, 588 N.W.2d 701, 708–09 (Iowa 1999) (to recover on a negligent supervision claim, the plaintiff must show the

Ms. Jorgensen underwent a breast reconstruction performed by Dr. Smith on June 7, 2018. App. 8 at ¶ 10. Ms. Jorgensen alleges that Dr. Smith negligently performed this procedure, specifically with respect to the placement of her right breast nipple. *See id.* at App. 8, 9 at ¶¶ 10, 17, 21.

On May 28, 2020, Plaintiffs brought this action against Defendants. *See generally id.* In addition to the direct and vicarious liability claims made in connection with the care provided by Dr. Smith, Plaintiffs assert a further claim of direct negligence against Tri-State, alleging negligence in retaining Dr. Smith. *Id.* at App. 16 at ¶ 53.

In Plaintiffs' certificate of merit, provided on May 29, 2020, Dr. Mark Jewell opines that Dr. Smith "breached the standard of care with respect to . . . [the] surgery and the follow-up care provided to Charlene Jorgensen." App. 21 at ¶ 7. Dr. Jewell provides no opinion regarding whether Tri-State was negligent in retaining Dr. Smith. *See generally* App. 20-21. The expert report of Dr. Michael Edwards, dated June 23, 2020, similarly opines that "Dr. Smith fell below the accepted standard of care in the treatment of Ms. Jorgensen," while offering no opinion as to the retention of Dr. Smith. App. 717. Dr. Edwards' supplemental report, dated February 2, 2022, is also silent on the issue of Tri-State's alleged negligent retention. App. 724-725.

---

employer knew or should have known of the employee's unfitness at the time of the alleged wrong).

In light of Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the certificate of merit affidavit requirements as to the negligent retention claim, Defendants moved for partial summary judgment on December 15, 2021. *See* App. 31-34. In resisting summary judgment, Plaintiffs rely solely on the allegations contained in Dr. Steele's letter in support of their claim that Tri-State knew or should have known of allegations of wrongdoing which would warrant Dr. Smith's termination on the relevant date, June 7, 2018. *See* App. 90-91.

Plaintiffs further argued that expert testimony is not needed generally to support a negligent retention of professional staff claim against a health care provider. *Id.* at App. 106-110. Alternatively, Plaintiffs claimed that the allegations of Dr. Steele make Tri-State's retention of Dr. Smith such an obvious breach of the standard of care that expert testimony, even if ordinarily required for a plaintiff to establish a prima facie case, is not required in this particular case. *Id.* at App. 110-112.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The District Court Erred in Finding That Expert Testimony is Not Needed to Establish a Prima Facie Case of Negligent Retention of Professional Staff Against a Health Care Provider.**

#### **A. Negligent retention claims are beyond the common knowledge of laypersons.**

Expert testimony is required in claims against health care providers where an issue is "beyond the common knowledge of laypersons and requires expert

evidence.” *Kennis v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 491 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 1992). “The test for determining if expert testimony is required is whether, when the primary facts are accurately and intelligently described, the jurors are as capable of comprehending the primary facts and drawing correct conclusions from them as an expert.” *Schmitt v. Floyd Valley Healthcare*, 2021 WL 3077022, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021) (citing *Thompson v. Embassy Rehab. & Care Ctr.*, 604 N.W.2d 643, 646 (Iowa 2000)).

“It is well settled that expert testimony is required to prove professional negligence claims against healthcare providers.” *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 539. “To establish a prima facie case of medical malpractice, a plaintiff must produce evidence that (1) establishes the applicable standard of care, (2) demonstrates a violation of this standard, and (3) develops a causal relationship between the violation and the injury sustained.” *Id.* (quoting *Oswald v. LeGrand*, 453 N.W.2d 634, 635 (Iowa 1990)); *see also Susie v. Fam. Health Care of Siouxland, P.L.C.*, 942 N.W.2d 333, 337 (Iowa 2020).

Consistent with these principles, this Court recently held in *Struck* that the district court properly dismissed claims alleging negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of professional staff because the plaintiff failed to offer the required expert testimony. *Id.* at 539, 544. The Court noted that its determination that expert testimony is required for such claims aligns Iowa with other states which have



similarly held expert testimony is required for such claims; triggering additional filing requirements akin to a certificate of merit affidavit. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544 (citing *Palms W. Hosp. Ltd. P’ship v. Burns*, 83 So. 3d 785, 788 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011); *Ray v. Scot. Rite Children’s Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 555 S.E.2d 166, 168–69 (Ga. App. 2001)) (“[o]ther courts have held pre-suit requirements and limitations including a certificate of merit apply to the patient’s negligent retention claims against the hospital”).

Notably, the *Burns* and *Ray* cases cited approvingly by this Court provide that expert testimony is needed specifically on the issue of a health care provider’s negligence in retaining professional staff. *See id.* When a health care provider exercises its duty “to select and review health care personnel,” a professional or modified standard of care applies. *See Burns*, 83 So. 3d at 788–89. An expert opinion regarding deficiency in the treatment provided, though sufficient for purposes of vicarious liability, does not satisfy the requirement of expert testimony for a direct negligence claim arising out of retention of professional staff. *See id.*

Recently, the Iowa Court of Appeals, relying on *Struck*, affirmed a district court’s dismissal of another plaintiff’s negligent supervision of professional staff claims against a health care provider. *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3. *Wolfe* observed the multitude of concepts which a factfinder would need to be

knowledgeable of to adjudicate a negligent supervision claim in this context, including, but not limited to:

- the medical industry’s standards for supervision of a medical professional treating a patient with plaintiff’s condition;
- what is and is not acceptable in the supervision of said medical professional;
- an understanding of the patient’s condition and why particular actions are taken or not taken;
- an understanding of how actions and procedures, whether taken or not taken, affect the patient’s condition;
- whether permitting or prohibiting those actions in their supervision constitutes negligence;
- whether defendant’s adherence or deviation from this standard constitutes negligence;
- sufficient comprehension of the situation to determine if and how the alleged negligent supervision did or did not cause or contributorily cause the injury.

*Id.* at \*2. These concepts are not within the ordinary knowledge of laypersons and instead require expert testimony. *Id.* at \*2–3.

The result reached in *Struck* and *Wolfe* is consistent with this Court’s approach regarding the analogous claim of negligent credentialing against a hospital. *See Rieder*, 959 N.W.2d at 431 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *Brookins*, 292 P.3d at 364 (“[t]he plaintiff in a negligent credentialing claim must present expert testimony establishing that the defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care to raise

a genuine issue of material fact’’)). This result is also consistent with that of numerous other courts which have found expert testimony necessary to establish the standard of care and breach thereof as to the employment of medical professionals.<sup>4</sup>

In reaching a result contrary to *Struck*, the district court concluded that Tri-State’s decision to retain Dr. Smith was “within the ambit of nonmedical, administrative, or ministerial acts.” App. 222. The district court relied on *Hall*, claiming it provides that an ordinary negligence standard applies to credentialing medical professionals. *Id.* at App. 221-222 (citing *Hall*, 812 N.W.2d at 684). However, *Hall* never addressed the proper standard of care in negligent credentialing cases. *Hall*, 812 N.W.2d at 686 (“[b]ecause we have concluded the district court’s judgment in favor of the defendants should be affirmed, we find it unnecessary to

---

<sup>4</sup> See *Mass v. Bartholomew*, 28 So. 3d 520, 522 (La. Ct. App. 2009) (holding plaintiff’s claim that a hospital was negligent in training or supervising its employees in dealing with back surgery patients required expert testimony to establish the hospital’s standard of care and breach); *MacPete v. Bolomey*, 185 S.W.3d 580, 586 (Tex. App. 2006) (holding claim against psychiatric practice group for negligent training and supervision of psychiatrist required expert testimony to establish the appropriate standard of care); *Dine v. Williams*, 830 S.W.2d 453, 456 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992) (noting the duty of an attending physician to supervise a resident is “a technical subject outside the common knowledge and experience of a jury” which requires expert testimony because the “amount of attention needed depends on the custom or practice of ordinarily diligent and careful physicians acting under the same or similar circumstances.”); *Wright v. Univ. Hosp. of Cleveland*, 563 N.E.2d 361, 366 (Ohio Ct. App. 1989) (holding negligent supervision claim against attending physician required expert testimony to establish the standard of care and breach of that standard).

address the defendants’ argument that the district court should have applied a higher “professional” standard of care.”).

When this Court did address the issue as recently as 2021 in *Rieder*, it suggested that expert testimony is necessary to support a negligent credentialing claim. *Rieder*, 959 N.W.2d at 431 (quoting *Brookins*, 292 P.3d at 364) (“[t]he plaintiff in a negligent credentialing claim must present expert testimony establishing that the defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care to raise a genuine issue of material fact”) (emphasis added). The analogous negligent credentialing claim having been found to require expert testimony is harmonious with this Court’s position in *Struck* that such testimony is required for a negligent retention of professional staff claim against a health care provider. *Compare id. with Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 539, 544.

The determination of whether Tri-State should have terminated Dr. Smith, based on what it knew as of June 7, 2018 is “beyond the common knowledge of laypersons and requires expert evidence.” *Kennis*, 491 N.W.2d at 166. The only allegations which support Plaintiffs’ argument that it was so obvious that Tri-State should have terminated Dr. Smith prior to June 7, 2018 were contained in the letter of Dr. Steele. Plaintiffs attempted reliance on events which came to light long after June 7, 2018 is misplaced—information not known to Tri-State at the time Dr. Smith provided care to Ms. Jorgensen is irrelevant. *See Godar*, 588 N.W.2d at 708–09

(Iowa 1999) (to recover on a negligent retention claim, the plaintiff must show the employer knew or should have known of the employee's unfitness at the time of the alleged wrong).

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