IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 22-0576

CHARLENE JORGENSEN and MICHAEL JORGENSEN
Plaintiffs-Appellees

vs.

ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., P.C. and
TRI-STATE SPECIALISTS, LLP
Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY DISTRICT COURT
NO. LACV192198

HONORABLE JEFFERY L. POULSON

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

MICHAEL D. BORNITZ,
PHV000025
Cutler Law Firm, LLP
140 N. Phillips Avenue, 4th Floor
PO Box 1400
Sioux Falls, SD 57101-1400
Telephone: (605) 335-4950
Facsimile: (605) 335-4961
mikeb@cutlerlawfirm.com

WILLIAM D. SIMS, AT007291
Northern Plains Justice, LLP
4301 W. 57th Street, Suite 121
Sioux Falls, SD 57108
Telephone: (605) 306-4100

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The District Court properly determined that Iowa Code § 147.140 does not apply to employment claims, e.g. negligent hiring, supervision, and retention.**
- A. **Iowa Code § 147.140 applies only to professional, medical malpractice claims, and not to routine or administrative, employment claims.**

By its own terms, Iowa Code § 147.140(1) applies only to “the alleged negligence in the *practice of that profession or occupation or in patient care*, which includes a cause of action for *which expert testimony is necessary* to establish a prima facie case[.]” Emphasis added.⁶ Issues regarding medical malpractice and informed consent are “issue[s] beyond the common

⁶ Iowa Code § 148.1 provides additional clarification that the practice of medicine relates to the treat patients, as opposed to administrative decisions:

[T]he following classes of persons shall be deemed to be engaged in the practice of medicine and surgery or osteopathic medicine and surgery:

1. Persons who publicly profess to be physicians and surgeons or osteopathic physicians and surgeons, or who publicly profess to assume the duties incident to the practice of medicine and surgery or osteopathic medicine and surgery.
2. Persons who prescribe, or prescribe and furnish, medicine for human ailments or treat the same by surgery.
3. Persons who act as representatives of any person in doing any of the things mentioned in this section.

knowledge of laypersons and requires expert evidence.” *See Schmitt v. Floyd Valley Healthcare*, 2021 WL 3077022, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021) (medical malpractice); *Kennis v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 491 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 1992) (informed consent). Iowa Code §147.140 is clear that it applies to actions in the practice of medical professions or patient care—that is, actually applying medical treatment that involves medical judgment to a patient’s body.

Iowa has recognized a distinction between cases involving routine care and professional care. “Under that law, the standard of conduct which ordinarily applies is the care ‘of a reasonable man under like circumstances.’” *Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hosp.*, 193 N.W.2d 98, 101 (Iowa 1971) (quoting Restatement, Torts 2d § 283). “But in the practice of a profession or trade, the standard is ‘the skill and knowledge normally possessed by members of that profession or trade in good standing in similar communities.’” *Id.* “[W]ith respect to nonmedical, *administrative*, ministerial, or routine care, [this Court] adopt[ed] the rule that the standard is such reasonable care for patients as their known mental and physical condition may require.” *Id.* at 101-02 (emphasis added). “The character of a particular activity of a hospital—whether professional, on the one hand, or nonmedical,

administrative, ministerial, or routine care, on the other—is *determined by the nature of the activity itself*, not by its purpose.” *Id.* at 102 (emphasis added).

Because claims of medical malpractice and informed consent are issues that require expert testimony, Plaintiffs filed a certificate of merit affidavit from Dr. Mark Jewell on June 2, 2020, and designated Dr. Michael Edwards on September 28, 2021. App. pp.20-21; 29-30. The Jorgensens’ employment claims of negligent hiring, supervision, and retention don’t involve medical judgments that typically require expert testimony. Employment decisions can be understood by a common person. Hospital administrators and CEOs who make employment decisions are typically non-doctors would apply business judgment, not medical judgment, in hiring, supervising, and retaining professional staff. As a result, Plaintiffs did not, nor did they need to, provide a certificate of merit on their employment claims.

The Jorgensens’ employment claims of negligent hiring, supervision, and retention claims are based upon Tri-State’s nonmedical, administrative, ministerial actions, or routine care. In *Hall v. Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hosp.*, this Court held there was no error in a district court’s ruling that a lay standard of care applied to a hospital’s credentialing decision. 812 N.W.2d 681, 685-86 (Iowa 2012). The basis for the district court’s decision was that the credentialing decision as involved “nonmedical, administrative, or

ministerial acts by a hospital.” *Id.* at 684. *Hall* found no fault in the district court’s application of a lay standard of care, or the district court’s determination that the credentialing decision involved non-medical, administrative, or ministerial acts. This is analogous to the Jorgensens’ claims here.

The decision in *Hall* was a result of the application of years of Iowa Supreme Court and Court of Appeals case law. In *Kastler*, a patient fell while in the shower after reporting to hospital staff that she was not feeling well. *Id.* at 99-100. This Court determined that that the adoption of the reasonable care rule meant that the plaintiff “was not required to adduce proof of the practice of hospitals generally respecting showers or to introduce expert testimony. The jury could use its own knowledge and good sense with respect to the hospital’s conduct in question.” *Id.* at 102.

In *Cockerton v. Mercy Hospital Medical Center*, a plaintiff alleged injuries due to a fall when she was left unattended by hospital personnel while having x-rays. 490 N.W.2d 856, 858 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992). This Court found the action involved routine, nonmedical care by the hospital, and not professional conduct. *Id.* at 859. This Court concluded that “this was not the kind of case requiring expert testimony to establish a deviation from an accepted standard of care of hospitals.” *Id.*

In *Landes v. Women's Christian Ass'n*, the plaintiff brought a claim after he fell while the hospital left him unattended as the anesthetic he was under had worn off. 504 N.W.2d 139, 140 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993). This Court determined that the plaintiff's claim "[did] not allege medical malpractice or professional activity by the hospital . . . [and] was nonmedical or routine." *Id.* at 141. Accordingly, the plaintiff "[was] not required to introduce expert testimony to prove his case." *Id.* at 141-42.

In the present case, the Jorgensens' employment claims are based on the fact that Tri-State knew and/or should have known about Smith's rampant history of malpractice, as well as the substandard care he provided and unnecessary procedures he performed while at Tri-State. Tri-State hiring Smith with knowledge of his prior conduct was an administrative or business decision, not involving particular medical knowledge. Likewise, Tri-State's knowledge of or failure to investigate Smith's conduct, of which it was put on notice, while retaining Smith is another administrative choice, not involving medical knowledge.

B. Case law from other states with certificate of merit statutes confirm employment claims are neither medical in nature nor require a certificate of merit.

Iowa is not the only state that has some form of a certificate of merit requirement. In many of those states, the courts have ruled that negligent

hiring, supervision, and retention claims are not “medical” claims that would require a certificate of merit. For example, North Carolina has a statute that requires certification of a review by a medical expert on the merits of a malpractice claim. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 9(j). In the context of that statute, the North Carolina courts have distinguished claims that require expert testimony, and hence certification by a medical expert, from those that do not. *Estate of Waters v. Jarman*, 547 S.E.2d 142 (N.C. App. 2001).

In *Jarman*, the court noted that analysis of whether expert testimony was required hinged on whether the misconduct alleged was in the performance of medical, dental, or other health care. The court stated:

It is undisputed that the claims asserted in this action involve the furnishing of professional services; however, the pertinent question here appears to be whether the claim arose “*in the performance of medical, dental, or other health care* by a health care provider.” N.C. Gen.Stat § 90-21.11 (emphasis added). A review of the case law involving corporate negligence claims asserted against a hospital reveals that there are fundamentally two kinds of claims: (1) those relating to negligence in clinical care provided by the hospital directly to the patient, and (2) those relating to negligence in the administration or management of the hospital. The case law has treated the two types of claims differently.

Our courts have applied the medical malpractice statutory standard of care and required expert testimony where the corporate negligence claims arose out of clinical care provided by the hospital to the patient.

However, where the *corporate negligence claims* allege negligence on the part of the hospital for administrative or

management deficiencies, the courts have instead *applied the reasonably prudent person standard of care*.

Id. at 144-45 (emphasis added). The court explained that:

Collectively, we believe these cases stand for the proposition that corporate negligence actions brought against a hospital which pertain to clinical patient care constitute medical malpractice actions; however, where the *corporate negligence claim arises out of policy, management or administrative decisions*, such as *granting or continuing hospital privileges, failing to monitor or oversee performance of the physicians, credentialing*, and failing to follow hospital policies, the claim is instead derived from *ordinary negligence principles*. This distinction is consistent with the statutory definition of medical malpractice actions, which requires that the claim arise out of services “in the performance of medical, dental, or other health care.” Accordingly, only those claims which assert negligence on the part of the hospital which arise out of the provision of clinical patient care constitute medical malpractice actions and require Rule 9(j) certification.

Id. at 145 (emphasis added).

Georgia also has an expert affidavit requirement for medical malpractice cases similar to Iowa Code § 147.140. *See* OCGA § 9-11-9.1. In *Upson County Hosp., Inc., v. Head*, 540 S.E.2d 626 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000), the Georgia Court of Appeals faced an issue similar to this case. The plaintiff filed a complaint against a hospital for medical negligence and for simple negligence. *Id.* at 629-30. The hospital filed a motion to dismiss alleging that the plaintiff did not comply with the expert affidavit requirement. *Id.* The

trial court denied the hospital's motion to dismiss and the hospital appealed. *Id.*

The *Head* court affirmed the trial court on the expert affidavit issue on what it termed "simple negligence," noting the distinction between claims that "required the exercise of professional judgment and skill" and those that do not. *Id.* at 630. "A professional negligence or professional malpractice claim calls into question the conduct of the professional in his area of expertise. Administrative, clerical, or routine acts demanding no special expertise fall into the realm of simple negligence." *Id.*

Expert testimony may be required when the claim involves the performance of health care by a health care provider, subject to the common knowledge exception. But if the claim concerns administrative, clerical, or routine acts, expert testimony is not required. If expert testimony is not required, it should be obvious that § 147.140 is not applicable in this case.

C. Expanding Iowa Code § 147.140 to employment claims would, in effect, bar employment claims related to underlying medical malpractice.

The construction of the statute as advanced by Defendants creates an impossible procedural barrier. The statute requires a certificate of merit before discovery. *See* Iowa Code § 147.140(1) (" . . . the plaintiff shall, *prior to the commencement of discovery* in the case and within sixty days of the

defendant’s answer. . . .” (emphasis added)). Plaintiffs can obtain their own medical records prior to the commencement of a lawsuit and discovery. This allows an expert to evaluate a claim of medical malpractice in order to issue a certificate of merit as to the medical care the plaintiff received. There is no substantial burden in obtaining a certificate of merit on just a medical malpractice claim.

The same is not true for employment claims of negligent hiring, supervision, and retention claims. Such claims are based on an entity’s actions relating to the employment of individuals. The employers’ actions almost always—by necessity—involve a multitude of other facts and incidents outside a plaintiff’s own medical records.⁷ Unless a concerned citizen, like Dr. Steele, discloses such information voluntarily, these employment-related facts are usually unknown to a plaintiff until discovery begins. Even after

⁷ The Jorgensen’s limited knowledge of Smith’s medical malfeasance in this case was brought about by a proverbial, perfect storm of Dr. Steele acting as a whistleblower and discovery from other lawsuits. Not only would a typical plaintiff have to engage in discovery to obtain facts germane to negligent employment claims, but also that plaintiff would have to deal with the medical provider’s discovery obstruction regarding those employment facts. Tri-State’s refusal to engage in discovery exemplifies the logistical impossibility of having an employment certificate of merit affidavit prior to discovery. *See generally* App. pp.608–671. Defendants like Tri-State will claim that discovery as to employment “matters not be had unless and until there is a finding of negligence in the underlying medical malpractice case against [the doctor].” App. p.662.

discovery begins, however, there are hurdles that plaintiffs usually face in compelling hospitals to disclose employment-related facts and documents. Plaintiffs are not required to be clairvoyant, and the Legislature did not intend to require such soothsaying by passing the certificate of merit statute. The result Defendants are seeking would be absurd, and essentially eviscerates negligent hiring, supervision, and retention claims. Had the Legislature intended such a radical result, it could have plainly done so in the text of the statute. It did not.

D. The “same or substantially similar field or specialty” requirement is understandable in a medical malpractice context, but not in the context of employment claims.

Expert witnesses under Iowa Code § 147.140(1) must meet the qualifying standards of § 147.139. Pursuant to the qualifying standards statute, the expert must be licensed to practice and actively practiced five years before the malpractice occurred “in the same or a substantially similar field as the defendant[.]” Iowa Code § 147.139(1)-(2). Similarly, if the defendant is board-certified in a specialty, the expert must also be “certified in the same or a substantially similar specialty by a board recognized by the American board of medical specialties, the American osteopathic association, or the council on podiatric medical education.” Iowa Code § 147.139(3).

This standard is simple and understandable when evaluating the medical judgment that a health care provider used. In evaluating the medical judgment of an orthopedic surgeon, for example, a physician in an unrelated field, such as a cardiology, would not be able to testify as the standard of care to which an orthopedic surgeon should be held. In that hypothetical, Iowa Code § 147.140 and § 147.139 would require another orthopedic surgeon to provide expert testimony as to the standard of care the original orthopedic surgeon should have applied.

There is no similar comparison, however, for the employment claims of negligent hiring, supervision, and retention. An orthopedic surgeon, although knowledgeable in the field of orthopedic surgery, may not have knowledge of the standard of care to be applied for hiring, supervising, or retaining medical professions. The surgeon would be able to apply medical judgment, but not business administration judgment or risk management. Under Iowa's current statutory construction, should Defendants' position be adopted for employment claims, there is no contemplation of what field, specialty, or qualifications would be required for a certificate of merit affidavit expert witness. A hospital administrator, medical staff director, risk management officer, or even an employment lawyer could all provide expert

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